



Inês Marques Morais

URINE EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES: A PROMISING TOOL IN REGENERATIVE MEDICINE

Dissertação no âmbito de Investigação Biomédica, orientada pelo Professor Doutor Hugo Agostinho Machado Fernandes e pelo Professor Doutor Lino Silva Ferreira e apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra

Julho de 2019

Urine extracellular vesicles: A promising tool for regenerative medicine

Inês Marques Morais

Dissertation for the attribution of the Master degree in Biomedical Research, submitted to the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra, Portugal. The experimental work described in this dissertation was performed at Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology (CNC), in Biomaterials & Stem Cell-based TherapeuticsLab, in the unit UC-Biotech (Biocant Park), under the supervision of Doctor Lino Ferreira and Doctor Hugo Fernandes. This work had the collaboration of the cardiology department of the Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra. This work was financed by Programa Operacional Competividade e Internacionalização (POCI) na sua componente FEDER e pelo orçamento da Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia na sua componente OE (Project "Exo-Heart": POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029919) e Projeto europeu ERAatUC (ref. 669088).

Dissertação para obtenção do grau de Mestre em Investigação Biomédica apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal. O trabalho experimental descrito nesta dissertação foi realizado no Centro de Neurociências e Biologia Celular (CNC), no grupo "Biomaterials & Stem Cell-based Therapeutics Lab", na unidade UC-Biotech (Biocant Park), sob a orientação científica do Doutor Lino Ferreira e do Doutor Hugo Fernandes. Este trabalho teve a colaboração do Departamento de Cardiologia do Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra. Este trabalho foi financiado pelo Programa Operacional Competividade e Internacionalização (POCI) na sua componente FEDER e pelo orçamento da Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia na sua componente OE (Project "Exo-Heart": POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029919) e Projeto europeu ERAatUC (ref. 669088).

Coimbra, 2019



"Toute réussite déguise une abdication."

Simone de Beauvoir

Agradecimentos

Primeiramente, agradeço ao Doutor Lino Ferreira, e ao Doutor Hugo Fernandes, por me terem aceite no laboratório e por me terem permitido realizar a tese sob a orientação de ambos.

Em especial ao Doutor Hugo, por todos os conselhos e correções e pela constante disponibilidade em ajudar. Espero um dia ter o seu otimismo científico e gosto pela investigação, na esperança de também ver em todos os resultados, bons ou maus, uma oportunidade.

Aos meus colegas de laboratório, a Marta, o Carlos, a Sandra, a Andreia, a Clarissa e o Ricardo, por todos os bons momentos e piadas, almoços e cafés, pela ajuda, apoio e ensinamentos.

A todos os ETs, pelos bons dias e sorrisos e sempre se disponibilizarem a ajudar.

Aos meus compatriotas de tese e boleias, a Marta, a Catarina, a Sara, o Luís e a Denise, com quem passava pelo menos 1 hora por dia num carro fechada. Por todas as piadas, conversas e devaneios. Este ano teria sido imensamente mais difícil sem vocês. Que mantenhamos sempre um "great spirit".

Aos meus Bonifácios, os meus velhos, os meus amigos de e para sempre, pelos cafés de fim de semana em que relembramos os bons velhos tempos e as inside jokes. Que apesar de longe estejamos sempre perto.

Ao meu eterno gang do bairro, que apesar de ocupadas com a vida, de vez em quando ainda nos lembramos umas das outras.

À Quantunna, a família que me deu boas memórias e dores de cabeça. Desde os meus afilhados ao meu padrinho chato, aos meus colegas caloiros que agora são meus colegas tunos, aos ensaios de segundas e quintas, aos oito badaladas e às noites de música e finos.

À minha grande família. Os meus primos, tios e padrinhos. Em especial aos meus irmãos por sempre me melhorarem o dia. Ao meu jovem velho avô, com os seus 93 anos a caminho de 25. E à minha mãe, a melhor mãe do mundo, por estar sempre a um telefonema de distância, pelas mensagens de boa noite e refeições preferidas, por sempre ouvir os meus dilemas e devaneios e me atuar mesmo quando sou rabugenta e teimosa.

À minha avó, que mesmo não percebendo bem o que eu fazia, sempre me considerou a melhor. Já não está aqui para me ver acabar esta etapa, mas está sempre comigo.

Abstract

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) remain the leading cause of death globally. Despite significant improvements in prevention and in the development of novel therapeutic strategies, the total number of deaths due to CVD has increased 12.5% in the past decade. This increase is likely due to individual risk factors, like physical inactivity, alcohol and/or other substances abuse as well as environmental factors such as pollution. Overall, the combination of these factors can ultimately lead to an acute myocardial infarction (AMI).

An AMI is characterized by a reduction or blockage of myocardial perfusion, eventually culminating in irreversible cell death due to the ischemic conditions that ensue. To minimize the damage to the heart, it is essential to restore the blood flow as quickly as possible. However, this reperfusion will lead to additional harm to the already injured heart, a phenomenon known as ischemia/reperfusion injury. Thus, novel therapies capable of ameliorating and/or resolve these complications are much needed.

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are important mediators of intercellular communication. Their composition, both the surface as well as the cargo, portray the state and composition of the releasing cell, and EVs from many different cellular origins and from different biological fluids have been used as biomarkers and/or therapeutic agents. Currently, it is believed that the major components driving the bioactivity of EVs are non-coding RNAs, in particular microRNAs (miRNA).

In the first part of this thesis we tested the bioactivity of EVs isolated from urine of AMI patients in endothelial cells (ECs) and in the second part we explored the role of a novel miRNA, previously identified in our group as capable of enhancing the survival of EC in ischemic conditions. To deliver this miRNA of interest (from here on denoted miR-B) into the cells we explored two strategies: complexation of the miRNA with a commercial lipidic formulation (lipofectamine RNAiMax) and complexation of miRNA with EVs isolated from the urine of healthy donors. Ultimately, we tested these approaches on the survival of ECs exposed to ischemic conditions and showed that miRNA-modulated EVs were more effective on enhancing EC survival than lipofectamine.

Based on the above-mentioned results, we concluded that miR-B enhances the survival of ECs exposed to ischemia and that urine EVs from healthy donors can be used as an effective vehicle to deliver miRNA into the cells.

Keywords: Acute myocardial infarction, extracellular vesicles, urine, miRNAs, endothelial cells, modulation.

Resumo

As doenças cardiovasculares (DCV) permanecem a principal causa de morte a nível global. Apesar de uma significativa melhoria em prevenção e no desenvolvimento de novas terapias, o número total de mortes devido as DCVs aumentaram em 12,5% na última década. Este aumento é devido a fatores de risco individuais, como o sedentarismo, abuso de álcool e/ou outras substâncias. No geral a combinação destes fatores pode levar à ocorrência de um enfarte agudo do miocárdio (EAM).

Um EAM é caracterizado por redução ou bloqueio de perfusão no miocárdio, culminando, eventualmente em morte celular irreversível devido as condições isquémicas. De maneira a minimizar o dano no coração, é essencial restabelecer o fluxo sanguíneo, no entanto, esta reperfusão leva a danos adicionais a um coração já danificado, este fenómeno é chamado de lesão de isquemia/reperfusão (I/R). Sendo assim, terapias inovadoras capazes de melhorar e/ou resolver estas complicações são necessárias.

Vesiculas extracelulares (VEs) são importantes mediadores de comunicação celular. A sua composição, tanto na sua superfície como o seu conteúdo, retrata o estado da célula que os libertou, e VEs de diferentes origens celulares e até de diferentes fluidos biológicos são usados como biomarcadores e agentes terapêuticos. Presentemente, acredita-se que os principais componentes responsáveis por esta bioatividade nos EVs, são RNAs não codificantes, em particular microRNAs (miRNA).

Numa primeira fase desta tese, testamos a bioatividade de VEs isolados de urina de pacientes que sofreram um EAM, em células endoteliais, e numa segunda parte, exploramos o papel de um novo miRNA, previamente identificado no nosso grupo como capaz de aumentar a sobrevivência em células endoteliais em condições de isquemia. Para entregar este miRNA de interesse (a partir de agora, denominado miR-B) nas células de interesse, exploramos duas estratégias: complexação do miRNA com uma lipídica formulação comercial (lipofectamina RNAiMAX) e complexação do miRNA com VEs isolados de urine de dadores saudáveis. Em última análise, testamos estas abordagens na sobrevivência de células endoteliais expostas a condições isquémicas e mostramos que os VEs-modulados com miRNA eram mais eficazes em aumentar a sobrevivência endotelial

Com estes resultados, concluímos que o miR-B aumenta a sobrevivência de células endoteliais expostas a condições de isquemia e que os VEs de dadores saudáveis serviram como o veículo ideal para a entrega do miRNA às células.

Palavras-chaves: Enfarte agudo do miocárdio, vesículas extracelulares, urine, microRNAs, células endoteliais, modulação.

Table of contents

Abstract	vii				
Resumo	ix				
Table of contentsxi					
List of figuresxiii					
List of tablesxii					
1. Introduction					
1.1 Cardiovascular Diseases: Risks and Impact					
1.2 Acute Myocardial Infarction					
1.3 Extracellular vesicles	5				
1.3.1 Classification and biogenesis	5				
1.3.2 Use of extracellular vesicles in cardiac	epair9				
1.3.3 Urine extracellular vesicles	11				
1.4 microRNAs and EV modulation	11				
2. Aims of the study	13				
3. Materials and Methods					
3.1 Urine sample collection					
3.2 Isolation of urine extracellular vesicles					
3.3 Purification of urine extracellular vesicles					
3.4 Characterization of urine extracellular vesicles					
3.4.1 Nanoparticle tracking analysis	16				
3.4.2 Zeta potential of urine extracellular vest	cles16				
3.4.3 MicroBCA protein assay	16				
3.4.4 Flow cytometry					
3.5 Modulation of urine extracellular vesicle cargo					
3.6 Cell culture and media					
3.7 Bioactivity assays	19				
3.7.1 Proliferation assay	19				
3.7.2 Migration assay					
3.7.3 Survival assay	20				
3.8 Cell fixation and nuclear staining					
3.9 Image acquisition and analysis					
3.10 Statistical analysis	22				

	3.11 Ethical issues				
4.	Results	23			
	4.1 Characterization of urine EVs				
	4.1.1 Nanoparticle, microBCA and zeta potential	23			
	4.1.2 Flow cytometry with urine EVs from AMI patient	24			
	4.2 Bioactivity assays with urine EVs from AMI patients				
	4.3 Bioactivity assays using miRNA-modulated EVs				
5.	Discussion	33			
	5.1 Characterization of urine EVs				
	5.2 Bioactivity assays with urine EVs from AMI patients				
	5.3 Bioactivity assays using miRNA-modulated EVs				
6.	. Conclusion and future perspectives				
7.	. References				
8.	Supplementary data	53			

List of figures

Figure 1 – Individual risk factors can be exacerbated by external factors, leading to CVD	1
Figure 2 – Synergistic interactions between cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells	3
Figure 3 – Cell-free therapies as next generation treatment	4
Figure 4 – Extracellular vesicles biogenesis and secretion	6
Figure 5 – Schematic representation of the bioactivity assays performed in HUVECS CD34 ⁺ -ECs	and 21
Figure 6 – Flow cytometry of urine EVs isolated from an AMI patient, using surfactant-free aldehyde/sulfate latex beads and antibodies for CD9 and CD63	e 25
Figure 7 – Flow cytometry of purified urine EVs from an AMI patient using CD9 and CD6. antibodies	3 26
Figure 8 – Results of bioactivity assays using urine EVs from AMI patients	27
Figure 9 – Results of cell proliferation assays in CD34 ⁺ -ECs	29
Figure 10 – Results of cell migration assays in CD34 ⁺ -ECs	30
Figure 11 – Results of cell survival assays in CD34 ⁺ -ECs	.31
Figure 12 – Bioactivity assays results using urine EVs from two AMI patients	.54

List of tables

Table 1 – Different methods used for extracellular vesicles isolation	8
Table 2 – Characterization of urine EVs from AMI patients and healthy donors	23

1. Introduction

1.1 Cardiovascular Diseases: Risks and Impact

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are defined as a group of cardiac disorders that will ultimately compromise the vascular and the heart's function. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), CVDs are the leading cause of death globally, being responsible for 31% of total global deaths¹. Despite the current developments in preventive and therapeutic measures, the total number of deaths due to CVD increased 12.5% in the past decade^{2,3}. This increase in mortality can be explained by individual risk factors, such as, for example, poor diet, alcohol and/or tobacco abuse or sedentary lifestyle as well as by external factors, such as, for example, pollution or poor access to the healthcare system² (Figure 1).



Figure 1 – Individual risk factors can be exacerbated by external factors, leading to CVD. The continuous abuse of harmful substances, deleterious behaviors, coupled with weak health systems or a polluted environment, leads to the progress of maladies such hypertension, high levels of cholesterol and/or diabetes, ultimately resulting in the development of a CVD^2 .

1.2 Acute Myocardial Infarction

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is a coronary artery disease (CAD), characterized by a reduction or even blockage of myocardial perfusion, eventually culminating in irreversible cell death, consequence of the ischemic environment ensuing after the event ^{4–6}. The rupture of pre-existing atherosclerotic plaques is the main cause of occlusion and leads to a series of sequential events that, if not properly treated, can culminate in heart failure (HF) ^{4,7}. Firstly, immediately after the occlusion, the immune system is activated, initiating an inflammatory response characterized by the release of cytokines and recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes. Secondly, in order to prevent ventricular rupture and maintain the heart's functional integrity, myofibroblasts are quickly activated to produce a collagen-based scar tissue, which has reduced contractile capacity compared with the native CMs ⁸. Finally, over time, the accumulation of fibroblasts and deposition of excessive extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins will lead to contractile disfunction with subsequent HF ⁹.

To minimize the damage to the heart, it is vital to restore the blood flow to the ischemic area as quickly as possible. Medical approaches in an AMI are pharmacotherapeutic, with administration of antithrombotic drugs, percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) or coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG)¹⁰. However, the reperfusion of the ischemic area leads to a dramatic increase in intracellular and mitochondrial calcium ultimately resulting in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that will exacerbate the pre-existing ischemic milieu, a phenomena known as ischemia/reperfusion(I/R) injury ^{11,12}. Nevertheless, the current therapeutic options are not capable of regenerating the injured heart. Heart transplantation remains the only treatment capable of resolving the underlying problem but the procedure has limitations and risks since donors are scarce, the organ needs to be compatible with the donor's immune system, the surgical procedure is complex and the patient will need life-long immune-suppression to avoid organ rejection.

Although cardiomyocytes (CM) are the main topic of research when it comes to cardiac repair/regeneration, it is important to notice that the myocardium is a complex structure composed by other cell types, such as cardiac endothelial cells (ECs), which contribute to the extensive capillary network existing in the heart. Despite the fact that the cardiomyocyte's mass is about 25 times bigger than the mass of cardiac ECs, the number of cardiac ECs is three times higher than the number CMs (~3:1 ratio) ^{13,14}. More

importantly, it is well-recognized that both cell types depend on each other to survive. ECs secret factors that are important in cardiac development, and later, in the survival and contraction of CMs. On the other hand, CMs also affect EC survival and assembly, promoting important processes such as angiogenesis, through the release of vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) and Angiopoetin-1 (Figure 2)¹⁴.

When CMs die, they attract ECs and endothelial progenitor cells (EPC)¹⁴. EPCs have been associated with several regenerative processes. It has been reported that they can transdifferentiate into CMs to account for the cell death¹⁵, and can promote the revascularization of the ischemic tissue by forming new capillary networks ¹⁶. The formation of new blood vessels in a damaged heart is important to restore tissue function, oxygen delivery and waste clearance and therefore, strategies capable of enhancing angiogenesis after an ischemic event are much needed.



Figure 2 – **Synergistic interactions between CMs and ECs.** The paracrine action of ECs is important in cardiac development, survival (neuregulin, neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) and Platelet-derived growth factor B (PDGF-B)) and contraction (nitric oxide (NO) and endothelin-1 (ET-1)). CMs will then release important factors which promote survival and assembly (Angiopoietin-1 and VEGF-A) of the ECs.

Despite the existing mechanisms of cellular remodeling after an AMI, the outcome is far from ideal since mostly due to the I/R injury, which will cause endothelial disfunction culminating in the release of pro-apoptotic and pro-inflammatory factors which in turn will enhance vasoconstriction and augmented vascular permeability. These changes in endothelial function will have a negative impact in CMs^{17,18}. Hence, novel therapies, focused on restoring the endothelial function after AMI are much needed.

New therapies based on stem cell derivatives have recently emerged. For example, skeletal myoblasts, bone-marrow-derived stem cells (BMSCs), embryonic stem cells (ESCs), induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), cardiac stem cells (CSCs), hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) have been used in several clinical trials in an attempt to restore cardiac function upon injury ¹⁹. However, poor engraftment and survival, risk of tumor formation, deficient electromechanical coupling with existing cells, are some of the problems that were identified and for which a satisfactory and efficient solution has not been found 20. Interesting, whenever positive effects were observed with cell-based therapies, the mechanism of action seemed to be governed by paracrine factors secreted by the cells rather than a direct contribution of the transplanted cells to the newly formed tissue. For example, upon transplantation of MSCs after an AMI, improvement in myocardium function was observed as early as 72h, a time point more suggestive of paracrine-mediated effects rather than direct differentiation of the transplanted cells. This hypothesis was later confirmed when injection of conditioned medium from MSCs subjected to hypoxic conditions led to a reduction in infarct size and improved ventricular function^{21,22}. The identification of EVs, small vesicles secreted by virtually every cell in the body, as important intercellular carriers of proteins, mRNA and microRNAs (miRNAs) fostered the development of cell-free therapies (Figure 3)^{23–27}.



Figure 3 – **Cell-free therapies as next generation treatment.** First and second-generation therapies were cell based, however, by using paracrine factors or other cell-free options, similar clinical outcomes occur, making these a more viable and safe treatment.

Image source: Cambria, E., Pasqualini, F. S., Wolint, P., Günter, J., Steiger, J., Bopp, A., ... & Emmert, M. Y. (2017). Translational cardiac stem cell therapy: advancing from first-generation to next-generation cell types. NPJ Regenerative medicine, 2(1), 17.

1.3 Extracellular vesicles

1.3.1 Classification and biogenesis

Cell communication was first thought to occur via direct contact between cells or the uptake of their secreted factors. However, the discover of EV revealed an unforeseen mechanism of intercellular communication where EVs, small vesicles containing a lipidic membrane, transfer a myriad of factors (proteins, messenger RNA (mRNA) and noncoding RNAs (nc-RNAs) both to nearby cells as well as to other cells, acting almost as classical hormones ^{28,29}.

EVs can be divided into categories: exosomes, microvesicles (MVs), and apoptotic bodies. Initially, this classification was based on size, but as more information was gathered, it became clear that it is the differential biogenesis of these EVs that truly distinguishes them³⁰. Apoptotic bodies are EVs of about 500-2000 nm released by cells undergoing apoptosis. They have been well characterized and it is known that they are capable of promoting proliferation and differentiation of EPCs, which could help repair the injured endothelium upon an AMI ³¹. MVs, with a size range between 50-1000 nm, sprout directly from the plasma membrane. Exosomes are the result of inward budding of the membrane of multivesicular bodies (MVBs). The MVBs can fuse with the plasma membrane and release the exosomes, with a size range of 40-120 nm, or even fuse with lysosomes, where their content will be degraded ³²⁻³⁴ (Figure 4).

EVs can be isolated from different body fluids or cell culture medium. There are several methods to isolated EVs based on the different size, density or expression of specific surface markers present in the lipidic bilayer of the EVs. Differential centrifugation, density gradient centrifugation, size exclusion chromatography, ultrafiltration, immune-capture and precipitation, are the most common approaches for EVs isolation ^{35–38} (Table 1).



Figure 4 – **Extracellular vesicles biogenesis and secretion**. Cells undergoing apoptosis release apoptotic bodies, the largest EVs with sizes in the 500-2000 nm range, that carry debris from dying cells. Microvesicles, sprout directly from the plasma membrane, while the smaller EVs, exosomes, are the result of the inward budding of the membrane of the early endosome, forming the intraluminal vesicles (ILV), later on the MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane, releasing the exosomes in the extracellular space or fuse with the lysosome and have their cargo degraded. The mechanisms behind which fate is chosen, isn't yet understood.

Quantification of the total number of EVs as well as their size distribution is imperative for downstream applications and therefore, adequate methods to characterize the obtained population are needed. The current methods all have advantages and disadvantages, thus, combination of one or more of these might be better to characterize the EVs. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) is the gold standard for imaging EVs, however EV size distribution can be affected because they might shrink during the preparation of samples. Alternatively, cryotransmisson-EM (cryo-EM) is a better adaptation of the technique, because it preserves the integrity of the EVs³⁸. Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) can be used to obtain information regarding the size distribution and the concentration of particles based on the analysis of their Brownian motions and individual trajectories in solution. However, it is important to notice that this technique does not distinguish between EV or non-EVs given the overlap in size existing between different types of vesicles ³⁹.

Flow cytometry is employed to detect markers present at the EV surface and it can be used in a multiplex manner by simultaneously measure multiple markers providing that different fluorescent labels are used 40,41 . The most common surface markers associated with EVs are tetraspanin proteins (CD9, CD63, CD81), other proteins as heat shock 70 kDa protein 4 (HSP70), tumor susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101) or major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and II. Despite the co-enrichment of these markers being associated with EVs, not all type of EVs express these markers. Given the fact that the surface makers presented at the EV surface reflect the markers existing in the releasing cell, it is not surprising that not all markers are expressed in all EVs in a consistent manner $^{42-44}$. Moreover, EV composition and/or number might differ based on the metabolic status of the organism or even on the existence of pathological conditions such as AMI or cancer, for example. Table 1 – Different methods used for extracellular vesicles isolation.^{36,39} Images adapted from: Coumans FAW, Brisson AR,Buzas EI, et al. Methodological Guidelines to Study Extracellular Vesicles. Circ Res. 2017;120(10):1632-1648.doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309417

	centrifugal force time 3-9 h	Mundenne (EV>cutoff Sector FV>cutoff Sector FV>cut	applied the filter filter time 0.5 h	+ precipitant	antigent to the second
Disadvantages	 Non-EV particles can aggregate in the EV pellet. EV can be damaged by the ultracentrifuge force. Inconsistencies in reproducibility. 	 Time-consuming and arduous Low input of material Lipoproteins may coelute with EVs 	 Contamination with particles above size cutoff of the exclusion matrix., or even same size particles. High-cost procedure. 	 Deformation of Evs Loss of sample 	 Protein contaminaition and retention of polymer used. 	 Only a specific subpopulation of EV is isolated.
Advantages	 Isolation of large volumes. No need for additional chemicals. Cost-Effective 	Pure samples	 Pure samples Simple and reproduceable procedure EV integrity preserved Prevents EV aggregation 	Pure and concentrated samples	 Simple and cost-effective Preservation of EV integrity 	 Purity and high selectivity
Biophysical/ Biochemical Property	Size and density	Size and mass density	Size	Size		Immunophenotype
Method	Differential centrifugation	Density gradient centrifugation	Size exclusion chromatography	Ultrafiltration	Precipitation	Immuno-capture

In a case of AMI, EV release by different types of cells is increased, specially by cardiac cell types. Its content is also modulated according to pathological situations, portraying the physiological state of the releasing cell⁴⁵. Cardiac cells release EVs enriched in angiogenic and anti-apoptotic factors, an attempt to repair the injured tissue. These EVs also carry cardiac-specific miRNAs, which are necessary for the normal functions of the heart, but their expression is highly increased when cardiac damage occurs. Consequently, exosomal miR-mediated communication seems to play important roles in the incidence, diagnostics and even repair of cardiovascular damage⁴⁰⁻⁴⁴. By coupling these characteristics, circulating EVs and their content can serve as biomarkers for diagnostic and prognostic of cardiovascular diseases.

1.3.2 Use of extracellular vesicles in cardiac repair

Many studies have shown the importance of EVs in CVD. However, several parameters remain open topics of discussion, chief amongst them the most adequate source of EVs. For example, *Lai et al.* reported that human embryonic stem cell derived MSCs secreted EVs which could reduce significantly the infarct size in mice undergoing myocardial ischemia ²⁵. They also tested MSCs from five other human fetal tissues and the results obtained were similar, regardless of the source, suggesting that the source of the MSCs does not play an important role on the bioactivity of the EVs for this particular application⁴⁹.

Many more experiments with different MSC sources surged after this. EVs released by induced pluripotent stem cells derived MSCs (iMSCs) were administrated *in vivo* to limbs of mice with femoral artery excision and were able to shield the limbs from ischemic injury by promoting angiogenesis ⁵⁰. Human umbilical cord MSCs (hucMSC) derived EVs enhanced the heart's systolic function and reduced fibrosis after AMI in a rat model, by protecting cardiac cells from cell death and promoting angiogenesis ⁵¹. Bone-marrow derived MSCs secreted EVs were deemed important in wound-healing, and were shown to promote growth and migration of both healthy and chronic wound human fibroblasts as well as induced angiogenesis⁵².

Because the beneficial action of these cells was mainly due to the EVs, other EVs from cells commonly transplanted in myocardial damaged tissue were tested.

EVs derived from cardiac-progenitor cells (CPCs) *in vitro* shielded a cardiomyoblast cell line of oxidative stress, and inhibited cardiomyocyte death in an acute I/R mouse model⁵³. EVs from human embryonic stem cell–derived cardiovascular progenitors (hESC-Pg) improved cardiac function in a post-infarct heart failure model⁵⁴. CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem-cell derived EVs were shown to have angiogenic activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* ⁵⁵.

EVs derived from cardiosphere-derived cells (CDCs) are an appealing source given the fact that they can be derived from patient's cardiac biopsies, they can grow in multicellular clusters⁵⁶ and they comprise cells capable of multi-lineage differentiation ⁵⁷. These cells have been used in numerous animal models and even in a phase 1 human study with similar outcomes: decrease of relative infarct size, development of new cardiac tissue and attenuation of adverse remodeling ^{58–60}. Therapeutic approaches with xenogeneic CDCs have been deemed highly immunogenic and even ineffective ⁶¹. Conversely, xenogeneic EVs have been shown to be safe and resulted in similar outcomes as auto- or allogenic CDC, without the adverse effects^{60,62}.

Besides the EV's isolated from different cell types, EVs from several different biological fluids, such as plasma^{63–65}, saliva^{66,67}, cerebrospinal fluid^{68,69}, pericardial fluid⁷⁰, and urine are also commonly used^{71,72}. In particular, plasma EVs have been used both for diagnostic of myocardial damage as well as for therapeutic use where they showed a protective effect in I/R injury^{73,74,75}.

1.3.3 Urine extracellular vesicles

Urine collection is a non-invasive and easy procedure, making urine a promising body fluid from which EVs can be isolated. Urine EVs are commonly associated with renal or urologic diseases^{76,77} because they are believed to derive from cell types of the urinary tract and kidney⁷⁸. However, cardiac specific miRNAs have been found in urine of AMI patients, suggesting that circulating EVs might be filtered to urine⁷⁹, making urine-derived EVs and their content a potential biomarker for AMI. In another study, 12 h after myocardial infarction (MI), cardiac miRNAs clearance from circulation was observed and this led the authors to search for those cardiac miRNAs in the urine. However, while some cardiac miRNAs were excreted in the urine others were not. This might be explained by degradation of the miRNAs, uptake of those miRNA by other organs or the fact that the "missing" miRNAs have a slower rate of diffusion from the circulation into the urine, being detected in circulation up to 2 days after MI and consequently might appear in urine much later⁸⁰.

Despite the advantages of using urine EVs, the isolation method must be adjusted because urine has a singularity that other body fluids do not have which is the presence of the Tamm-Horsfall protein (THP)^{81,82}. This protein forms a polymeric meshwork at low temperatures which can entrap the EVs and diminished the EV yield of the isolation⁸³. Different isolation methods already exist, some use a reducing agent reducing agent, dithiothreitol (DTT) ⁸³, a treatment with a CHAPS detergent ⁸⁴, isolation by sucrose gradient ⁸⁵ or salting out ⁸⁶. Some of these protocols are time consuming, not very effective and can only be used in a small scale. Therefore, Puhka *et al.* developed a much simpler and effective method based on the dilution of the urine in a alkaline solution with low ionic concentration. This method was capable of disaggregating the THP network and consequently enhanced the release of entrapped EVs⁸⁷.

With an efficient isolation method, urine-derived EVs can be used as biomarkers and/or therapeutic agents and their use in the diagnostic and treatment of CVD will provide novel possibilities.

1.4 microRNAs and EV modulation

MicroRNAs are small (~22 nucleotides), single-stranded, non-coding RNAs that are important posttranscriptional regulators of gene expression, since they can bind to mRNA inducing its degradation and/or preventing its translation ⁸⁸. They are abundantly found in fluids, both in physiologic and pathologic conditions and, more importantly, they exhibit a high stability when incorporated into EVs since in this case they are protected from degradation by RNases ⁸⁹. The role of miRNAs in cardiovascular homeostasis and disease is well-recognized ⁹⁰. For example, miR-133a, miR-208, miR-499 and miR-1 are some of the most abundant cardiac-specific miRNAs and can be found in cardiac and skeletal muscle myocytes. Importantly, upon MI, cardiac-cells release these miRNAs in circulation making them potential biomarkers.

Moreover, regarding their therapeutic potential, it has been shown that EVs derived from pre-conditioned MCS improved cardiac function, and that was mediated by miRNAs

existing in the EV cargo ^{91,92}. Studies like this open the door for the use of miRNAs not only as biomarkers but also as the therapeutic agent.

EVs can be used as natural drug delivery systems and thus far they have been used to deliver small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), both *in vitro* and *in vivo*⁹³, and even chemotherapeutic agents to prevent tumor development in murine cancer models⁹⁴. Despite these promising findings, using EVs as vehicles does have limitations namely the high quantity of EVs that might be necessary to perform in vivo studies and the lack of mechanistic information regarding the interaction of EVs with target cells. In particular, little is known regarding their uptake/internalization and intracellular trafficking in different cell types and how that can affect their bioacivity⁹⁵. Nonetheless, the great potential of EVs serving as vehicle for proteins, small molecules or any other therapeutic drug, cannot be denied. Given the well-established potential of EVs as delivery systems, one will need to devote attention to the selection of the best therapeutic agent to be used in the modulation of naïve EVs.

A high throughput screening experiment performed in our lab, in which ECs were transfected with a library of 2080 miRNA mimics and exposed to ischemic conditions and nutrient deprivation, led to the identification of 15 pro-survival miRNAs and from this list we selected one - miR-B- to use in combination with urine-derived EVs.

Several methods to introduce exogenous molecules into EVs have been described in the literature in particular, electroporation, a method based in high voltage electric shocks to insert DNA in cells^{96,97}, lipidic agents such as lipofectamine, ⁹⁸ and more recently, Exo-Fect, a reagent of undisclosed composition that enables the insertion of RNA, DNA or small molecules in EVs^{99,100}.

2. Aims of the study

The main goals of this study were to:

- 1) Evaluate the bioactivity of EVs isolated from urine of AMI patients and healthy donor in EC function.
- 2) Validate the bioactive potential of miR-B in endothelial cell survival.
- 3) Develop an efficient delivery system for miR-B.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Urine sample collection

Urine samples (ranging from 50 up to 150 mL) were collected from healthy and AMI patients upon obtaining written informed consent. The urine samples were immediately processed or, alternatively, stored at -80°C until further use. Samples from three AMI patients were used in this study, and from each patient, urine was collected at three different time points: <6 hours after admission of the patient to the hospital and subsequently in the second and third day of hospitalization.

3.2 Isolation of Urine extracellular vesicles

The method used to isolated EV from the urine was adapted from the protocol described by Puhka *et al.*⁸⁷ In brief, samples were, if necessary, thawed in a water bath at 37°C for 10~15 minutes, transferred from the original container to a 50 mL tube and centrifuged for 20 minutes at 2.000g and 4°C to remove death cells and/or cell debris. After centrifugation, the supernatant was collected and diluted with Tris-EDTA (20 mM, pH 9.0) in a 4:1 proportion (21 mL Tris-EDTA: 7 mL of urine supernatant.). To disrupt the THP meshwork and aggregates, the dilution was vortexed 90 seconds at 2.500 rpm upon which the solution was transferred to 28.7 mL polyallomer conical tubes (Beckman Coulter) and ultracentrifuged twice at 10.000 g for 30 minutes and 4°C using a swinging bucket rotor SW 32 Ti in an Optima™ XPN 100K ultracentrifuge (Beckman Coulter, California, U.S.A.). At the end of each centrifugation, larger vesicles remained in the pellet and, after the second centrifugation, the supernatant was ultracentrifuged at 100.000 g for 2 hours at 4°C to pellet small EVs. The obtained pellet was washed with cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and ultracentrifuged again at 100.000 g, 2 hours, 4°C. Finally, the pellet was resuspended in 160 uL of PBS and conserved at -80°C.

3.3 Purification of urine extracellular vesicles

In order to purify the EVs obtained from AMI patients, size exclusion chromatography was performed using qEVsingle SEC columns (iZON science, Christchurch, New Zealand) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.4 Characterization of urine extracellular vesicles

We used different methods to characterize the isolated EVs: quantification of size and particle concentration was performed using nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA), quantification of total protein amount was done with the micro bicinchoninic acid assay (microBCA), phase analysis light scattering (PALS) was used to quantify the particle surface charge and flow cytometry (FC) was employed to analyze the expression of specific EV surface makers.

3.4.1 Nanoparticle tracking analysis

NTA was performed using a NanoSight NS300 ((Malvern Instruments, Malvern, U.K.). To obtain a reliable reading, 1 uL of urine EVs was diluted in PBS until a value of 15-45 particles/frame was obtained. The PBS used was confirmed to be pure (<5 particles per frame). For each sample, 5 videos of 30 seconds were recorded with the camera level set at 13. All the videos were processed with NTA 3.0 analytical software, the events with high size and low intensity (>200 nm and <0.5 of intensity) or low size and high intensity (<100 nm and >0.5 of intensity) were considered artefacts and removed from the analysis as per manufacturer's instructions. The application of these criteria led to the exclusion of less than 15% of the total number of events measured.

3.4.2 Zeta potential of urine extracellular vesicles

Surface charge of urine EVs was measured with the NanoBrook ZetaPALS Potential Analyzer (Brookhaven Instruments Corporation, Long Island, U.S.A.). Per measurement, 4 uL of urine EVs were diluted in 1500 uL of biological grade ultrapure water (Fisher Scientific, New Hampshire, U.S.A.), the suspension was placed in contact with the zeta potential electrode and the sample was allowed to stabilize for 10 minutes. Five independent runs (using Smoluchowski module) were performed for each sample at room temperature.

3.4.3 microBCA protein assay

Quantification of total protein of urine EVs was performed using the microBCATM protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, U.S.A.), following the manufacturer's recommendations. A standard curve was obtained with bovine serum albumin (BSA) at different concentrations. For disrupting the urine's EV membrane, 5 uL of urine EVs were diluted in 105 uL of 2% (v/v) sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) at room

temperature. Then, 50 uL of this mix was pipetted in duplicate in a 96-well Corning® Costar® cell culture plates (Corning Inc., New York, U.S.A.) and the provided reaction solution was added and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. Finally, the plate was left at room temperature for 15 minutes to stabilize the samples and then absorbance at 562 nm was read in the microplate reader SynergyTM H1 (Biotek, Vermont, U.S.A.).

3.4.4 Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry was used to analyze the expression of classical EV surface markers CD9 and CD63. The protocol performed was an adaptation from the one reported by Théry et al.¹⁰¹ In brief, urine EVs were incubated with 3.8 µm aldehyde/sulfate latex beads (Life Technologies, California, U.S.A., catalog number: A37304) for 15 minutes in a proportion of 5uL beads: 2.5x10¹⁰ particles. PBS was then added to a final volume of 1 mL and the solution was incubated overnight at 4°C with constant mixing, to promote EV adsorption to the beads. To saturate the bead's free binding sites, the next day, 110 uL of 1 M glycine was added and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. Next, the solution was centrifuged at 1.300g for 3 minutes, the supernatant was removed, and the pelleted beads resuspended in 1 mL of 0.5% (w/v) BSA/PBS. This step was repeated three times and after the washing steps, beads were resuspended in 0.5% (w/v) BSA/PBS and aliquoted in 150 µL aliquots to perform the antibody staining. To do this, 5 µL of antibody was added to 150 uL of bead-bound EVs, incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C and washed twice as described before. To conclude, the supernatant was discarded, the bead-bound EVs were resuspended in 100 uL of 0.5% (w/v) BSA/PBS and analyzed using a BD Accuri 6 (BD Bioscience, New Jersey, U.S.A.). The data was analyzed using FlowjoTM (v10, FlowJo, LLC).

The following commercially available antibodies were used: CD9-FITC (R&D Systems, Minnesota, U.S.A., catalog number: FAB1880F), CD63-PE (Invitrogen, California, U.S.A., catalog number: 12-063942).

3.5 Modulation of urine EV cargo

To modulate urine EVs cargo, Exo-FectTM Exosome Transfection Kit (System Biosciences, California, U.S.A, catalog number: EXFT20A-1) was used. Given the fact that we wanted to test three different concentrations of EVs on our bioactivity assays (1.5×10^8 part, 3×10^8 part and 4.5×10^8 part) we prepared three different reaction solutions. Per reaction, 2×10^{10} particles, a quantity of miR-B which would result in a final concentration of 25 nM in the final step, 10 uL of Exo-Fect reagent and the necessary PBS to reach a final volume of 150 uL were added, mixed together and incubated for 10 minutes at 37°C. Then, 1/5 of the reaction volume of Exo-Quick (30×13.000 g for 3 minutes, supernatants were discarded, and the pellets resuspended in PBS. The solutions were stored at -80°C.

3.6 Cell culture and media

For the bioactivity assays in which the urine EVs from AMI patients were used, human umbilical vein ECs (HUVECS; Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) were seeded in endothelial cell growth medium 2 (EGM-2, Promocell, Heidelberg, Germany), at 37°C, 5% of CO2. EGM-2 was reconstituted as per manufacturer's recommendations with the addition of all the factors, 2% (v/v) of fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 0.5% (v/v) of Penicillin/Streptomycin (PS) into the endothelial basal medium (EBM). Starvation media for cell cycle synchronization was EBM with 0.1% (v/v) of FBS. In order to avoid any confounding effect from bovine-derived EVs, all the medium used in the experiments was previously subjected to an FBS-EV depletion step. To that end, we prepared EBM medium supplemented with the required percentage of FBS and subsequently this medium subjected to ultracentrifugation at 100.000g for 18 hours upon which the supernatant was harnessed. If EGM-2 was needed, all the factors were added to this EBM+FBS-EV depleted medium, since if added before the ultracentrifugation, important growth factors and proteins might precipitate and be lost in the pellet.

Human CD34⁺ - derived ECs (CD34⁺-ECs, previously derived in our laboratory¹⁰²), were seed in flasks coated with 1% (w/v) porcine skin type A gelatin in endothelial cell growth medium 2 (EGM-2, Lonza, Basel, Switzerland), at 37°C, 5% of CO2. In order to avoid any miscellaneous effect from bovine-derived EVs, all the medium used in experiments was previously subjected to an FBS-EV depletion step as previously described.

3.7 Bioactivity assays

Three different bioactivity assays were performed using ECs: proliferation, survival and migration. Per assay, ECs were subjected to different treatments: transfection of miR-B with the Lipofectamine RNAiMAX Transfection Reagent (Invitrogen, California, U.S.A, Catalog number: 13778150) (10, 25 and 50nM of miR-B)), urine EVs from healthy donors, urine EVs from AMI patients and urine EVs modulated with Exo-Fect and the miR-B. In the experiments with EVs, three concentrations of particles were used per condition (1.5 x 10⁹, 3.0 x 10⁹ and 4.5 x 10⁹ particles/mL). All EV conditions were incubated with FBS-EV depleted EBM/EGM-2. When a bioactivity assay had non-EV conditions and EV conditions in the same plate, FBS-EV depleted EGM-2 was used in all conditions, to maintain consistency. As positive control, FBS-EV depleted EGM-2 supplemented with 50 ng/mL of VEGF was used, and fresh VEGF was added every time that the medium was changed. In each assay, at least 3 replicates were performed per condition.

3.7.1 Proliferation assay

In brief, HUVECS were seeded at 2.500 cells/well in a 96-well Corning[®] Costar[®] cell culture plate in EGM-2 medium and left to adhere 4-6 hours. Subsequently, medium was changed to starvation media for 12 to 16 h (EBM supplemented with 0.1% (v/v) FBS) in order to synchronize the cell cycle. In the following day, medium was discarded, and the different stimuli were added (all in FBS-EV depleted EGM-2) and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% of CO2. Next, media was discarded, and 5% (v/v) FBS-EV depleted EBM was added to cells for 48 hours. Finally, medium was discarded, cells washed with PBS, fixed with 4% (v/v) paraformaldehyde (PFA), cell nuclei stained and counted using the InCell Analyzer 2200 (see section 2.9).

CD34⁺-ECs were seeded at 5.000cells/well in a 96- well Corning[®] Costar[®] cell culture plate coated with 1% (w/v) porcine skin type A gelatin in EGM-2 medium and left to adhere overnight. In the following day, medium was discarded, and the different stimuli were added (all in FBS-EV depleted EGM-2) and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% of CO2. Next, media was discarded, and EBM was added to cells for a 48 hours incubation. Finally, medium was discarded, cells washed with PBS, fixed with 4% (v/v) PFA, cell nuclei stained and counted using the InCell Analyzer 2200 (see section 3.9).

3.7.2 Migration assay

In this assay, HUVECS were seeded at 10.000cells/well and left to adhere 4-6 hours. Subsequently, cells were starved and incubated for 24 hours, as described above, with the different stimuli. Upon reaching confluency, a scratch was performed in the 96 well plate with a 200 uL pipette tip, the wells were washed with EBM to remove dead cells and 5% (v/v) FBS-EV depleted EBM medium was added. Images of the well at 4x magnification were acquired every 4 hours, between 0 hours and 24 hours, counting from the moment of the scratch (see section 2.9). Wound area recovery was measured using the open-source image processing software Fiji/ImageJ.

CD34⁺-ECs were seeded at 20.000 cells/well in 96-well Corning® Costar® cell culture plates in EGM-2 medium and left to adhere overnight. Subsequently, cells were incubated for 24 hours, as described above, with the different stimuli. Upon reaching confluency, a scratch was performed in the 96 well plate with a 200 uL pipette tip, the wells were washed with EBM to remove dead cells and EBM medium was added. Images of the well at 4x magnification were acquired every 4 hours, between 0 hours and 24 hours, counting from the moment of the scratch (see section 2.9). Wound area recovery was measured using the open-source image processing software Fiji/ImageJ.

3.7.3 Survival assay

Only CD34⁺-ECs were subjected to this assay. In brief, CD34⁺-ECs were plated at 10.000cells/well in two plates and left to adhere overnight. Subsequently, cells were incubated for 24 hours, as described above, with the different stimuli. After incubation, one of the plates was fixed with 4% (v/v) PFA, the nuclei stained and the total number of nuclei counted using a high content-microscope (to have the total number of cells pre-hypoxia). For the second plate, the medium was changed to EBM and the plate was sealed with a sealing membrane (BreathEasy[®]; Sigma-Aldrich, Missouri, U.S.A., catalogue number: Z380059) and transferred to ischemic conditions (0.1% of O₂, 5% of CO₂) in a hypoxic chamber for 48 hours. Next, the medium was discarded, cells washed with PBS, fixed, stained and nuclear counts were obtained using a high-content image microscope.

The percentage of survival per well was then calculated with the following formula:

% of survival =
$$\frac{\text{cell number after hypoxia}}{\text{cell number before hypoxia}} \times 100$$



Figure 5 – Schematic representation of the bioactivity assays performed in HUVECS and CD34⁺-ECs.

3.8 Cell Fixation and nuclear staining

After the medium was discarded, cells were washes with 100 uL of PBS per well (96-well plates) and fixed with 50 uL of 4% (v/v) PFA during a minimum of 10 minutes at room temperature. Following, PFA was discarded, cells were washed with 100 uL of PBS and incubated with 40 uL of 10 ng/mL of Hoechst during at least 10 minutes at room temperature and in the dark. Lastly, Hoechst solution was discarded, cells were washed three times with 100 uL PBS and left in 100 uL of PBS per well for image acquisition.

3.9 Image acquisition and analysis

To acquire the images of the bioactivity assays, the InCell Analyzer 2200 automated high-content imager (GE Healthcare) was used. For proliferation and survival assays, images of 8 fields per well, randomly selected, in brightfield and DAPI channel were acquired using 20x magnification. For the migration assay, one image per well, covering the wound area, was acquired with 4x magnification. InCell Investigator software (GE Healthcare) was used for quantification.

3.10 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism[®] 6.0 software was used for the statistical analysis of results. The results are shown in mean \pm SD, having at least 3 replicates per condition. One-way and two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test correction was used. A probability value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.11 Ethical Issues

Samples were obtained from patients from the cardiology department of the Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra (CHUC). For all the participants in this study an informed consent was given. This study was approved by the Ethics Commission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra with the reference numbers 092-CE-2017 and 041-CE-2018.

4. Results

4.1 Characterization of urine EVs.

4.1.1 NTA, microBCA and zeta potential.

Urine EVs from AMI patients and healthy donors were isolated and characterized by NTA, to determine the concentration and size distribution of the sample, microBCA for total protein quantification and zeta potential to determine the membrane charge of the EVs. An overview of the results can be found in Table 2.

Sample	Protein Quantification (ug/mL)	Zeta Potential	Nanosight (part/mL)
AMI 1 – D1	1799,6	$-34,81 \pm 2,33$	1,93 x 10 ¹²
AMI 1 – D2	538,11	-19,17 ± 2	5,13 x 10 ¹¹
AMI 1 – D3	664,07	$-29,65 \pm 3,85$	4,49 x 10 ¹²
AMI 2 – D1	577,92	$-21,81 \pm 6,03$	5,07 x 10 ¹¹
AMI 2 – D2	358,84	$-15,42 \pm 2,61$	4,50 x 10 ¹¹
AMI 2 – D3	424,65	$-23,82 \pm 5,37$	2,27 x 10 ¹²
AMI 3 – D1	3578,54	$-22,74 \pm 5,84$	2,36 x 10 ¹²
AMI 3 – D2	1431,19	$-18,25 \pm 1,77$	$2,09 \ge 10^{12}$
AMI 3 – D3	1030,59	$-22,19 \pm 1,83$	1,54 x 10 ¹²
Healthy donor A	372,03	$-21,34 \pm 4,28$	1,14 x 10 ¹²
Healthy donor B	422,48	-25, 58 ± 1,99	$1,63 \ge 10^{12}$

 Table 2 – Characterization of urine EVs from AMI patients and healthy donors.

4.1.2 Flow cytometry with urine EVs from AMI patient

To analyze the expression of the classical EV surface markers CD9 and CD63 at the surface of urine EVs, we performed flow cytometry analysis using surfactant-free aldehyde/sulfate latex beads. Based on previous work performed in our laboratory, we used a ratio of 5 uL of beads to 2.5×10^{10} particles. In the case of AMI patients, we performed the analysis for urine EVs isolated at three different days after hospitalization (for more details regarding the urine collection scheme see the materials and methods section). The samples were incubated with each antibody individually as well as a combination of CD9 and CD63 to analyze their co-expression.

Overall, our results showed a relatively low expression for CD9 regardless of the day (D1=10%, D2=6.6% and D3=11.5%). In contrast, the expression of CD63 was higher than the expression of CD9 and more interestingly, increased during time (D1=11.6%, D2=27.3% and D3=48.5%).

It is well-known that the expression of these, as well as other classical EV markers, depends on the donor and even tissue of origin. Previous work performed in our group using urine derived from healthy donors showed that the expression of these two markers was highly variable with donors having between 28.8% and 98.3% of CD9 and expression of CD63 from 19.1% to 97.7% (data not shown). However, the variation observed within the same donor at different time points post-AMI was rather surprising. Therefore, and to gain some insight on the purity of the sample, in particular regarding potential contamination with proteins, we decided to express the number of particles per ug of total protein. Our results showed an increase in the number of particles/ug protein during time (D1=6.62 x 10^8 , D2 = 2.74 x 10^9 and D3=5.47 x 10^9 part/ug) suggesting that during time there was a decreased in the total amount of protein as observe in table 2. Based on these findings, we decided to further purify the samples using SEC and analyze how that procedure impacts the expression of surface markers, as measured by flow cytometry.



Figure 6 – Flow cytometry of urine EVs isolated from an AMI patient, using surfactantfree aldehyde/sulfate latex beads and antibodies for CD9 and CD63. A ratio of 5uL beads to 2×10^{10} particles was used to perform FC in three samples of urine EVs from an AMI patient, being the samples from day 1, day 2 and day 3 of admission in the hospital. An increase in detection of expression of both markers over the different time points, suggests existence of contaminant in the samples, which was being eliminated over time.

Our results using the sample from day 3, showed that after SEC, there was a significant increase in the expression of both CD9 (11.5% before SEC to 34.5% after SEC), CD63 (48.5% before SEC to 74.7% after SEC) and co-expression of both markers. These results suggest that, as suspected, there was a contaminant in the sample that interfered and/or competed with the EV binding to the bead and the identification of that contaminant will be paramount.



Figure 7 – **Flow cytometry of purified urine EVs from an AMI patient using CD9 and CD63 antibodies.** The same settings as the previous FC experiment were used, being the only difference the use of urine EVs from as AMI patient which were purified by SEC. We can observe an increase in both surface markers, suggesting that most of the contaminant was removed.

4.2 Bioactivity assays with urine EVs from AMI patients

Given that fact that an AMI leads to an ischemic environment, we hypothesized that EVs derived from urine of patients after an AMI could differ from EVs isolated from healthy donors, in particular regarding their pro-inflammatory and pro-apoptotic potential. To test this hypothesis, we used EVs isolated from urine of AMI patients and tested their effect on the migration and proliferation of HUVEs. To that end, the effect of urine EVs isolated from two AMI patients was tested on the proliferation and migration of HUVECS. For the third donor, due to technical reasons with our InCell Analyzer 2200, we were only able to analyze the effect of the EVs on the proliferation of HUVECS. We used three different concentrations (1.5×10^9 part/mL, 3×10^9 part/mL and 4.5×10^9 part/mL) and performed the assays using EVs isolated from different time points and, in the case of the migration of HUVECS, our results showed no statistically significant changes regardless of the donor or the day (Figure 8A and C). In the case of proliferation, there was a statistically significant increase in proliferation at day 1 and for the concentration 3×10^9 part/mL, both

for AMI1 and AMI2. However, no significant changes were observed for the other days and particle concentration.

Overall, urine EVs from AMI patients did not seem to have any noticeable effect in the migration and proliferation of HUVECs.



Figure 8 – **Results of bioactivity assays using urine EVs from AMI patients. A)** and **B)**, Cell proliferation and migration, respectively, of urine EVs from AMI patient 1. **C)** and **D)**, Cell proliferation and migration, respectively, of urine EVs from AMI patient 2. **E)** Cell proliferation of urine EVs from AMI patient 3. Five replicates were performed per condition (n=5). Bars represent mean \pm SD. The statistical analysis of proliferation assays was performed with one-way ANOVA and migration assays with two-way ANOVA, both with Tukey's multiple comparisons test correction. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001; **** p<0.0001. CTL - control; VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor; AMI - acute myocardial infarction patient;

4.3 Bioactivity assays using miRNA-modulated EVs

Given the results obtained with EVs isolated from AMI patients, we decided to test if modulation of EVs isolated from the urine of healthy donors could lead to enhanced proliferation and/or migration of ECs. To that end, we modulated the isolated EVs with a miRNA known to enhance the survival of ECs, namely CD34⁺ -derived ECs, in ischemic conditions. First, we used a lipidic-based transfection agent (Lipofectamine RNAiMax) to test if the miRNA we selected had an effect on the proliferation of CD34⁺-derived ECs. Our results showed that for the time points tested and regardless of concentration of miRNA used (10, 25 and 50 nM), no statistically significant effect on the proliferation of CD34⁺-derived ECs was observed.).

To serve as control to transfected EVs, cells were incubated with just the urine EVs from the healthy donors, to make sure that they alone did not have an effect in the cells bioactivity. We also used urine EVs from two donors, donor A (HA) and donor B (HB), to understand if the effect could also be donor dependent. When we used EVs isolated from healthy donors and modulated with the same miRNA using Exo-Fect, we did not observe a significant effect on the proliferation, regardless of the concentration of miRNA-modulated EVs used (1.5×10^9 , 3×10^9 and 4.5×10^9 part/mL)





Figure 9 – Results of cell proliferation assays in CD34⁺-ECs. A) Cell proliferation with miR transfected and non-transfected urine EVs from healthy donor A. B) Cell proliferation with miR transfected and non-transfected urine EVs from healthy donor B C) Cell proliferation upon transfection of the miRNA with Lipofectamine RNAiMax. Three replicates per condition were used (n=3). Bars represent mean \pm SD. The statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test correction. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001; **** p<0.001. CTL - control; VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor; LP- lipofectamine, HA – Healthy donor A, HB- Healthy donor B; EVs – extracellular vesicles; 1.5 – 1.5 x 10⁹ part/mL; 3.0 – 3.0 x 10⁹ part/mL; 4.5 – 4.5 x 10⁹ part/mL.

In the case of the migration of CD34⁺-derived ECs, we evaluated wound recovery area 8h and 18h hours after scratch. The results were very similar to proliferation, except in the condition of 25nM of miRNA transfected with Lipofectamine which, 18h after scratch, ameliorated the cells migrative capacity compared with the control (p<0,05). When using EVs modulated with miRNA, we did not observe a significant effect on migration, regardless of timepoint or the concentration of miRNA-modulated EVs used (1.5 x 10^9 , 3 x 10^9 and 4.5 x 10^9 part/mL)



Figure 10 - Results of cell migration assays in CD34⁺-ECs. A) Cell migration with miRNA transfected and non-transfected urine EVs from healthy donor A. B) Cell migration with miRNA transfected and non-transfected urine EVs from healthy donor B C) Cell migration upon transfection of the miRNA with Lipofectamine RNAiMax. Three replicates per condition were used (n=3). Bars represent mean \pm SD. The statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test correction. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001; **** p<0.0001. CTL - control; VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor; LP- lipofectamine, HA – Healthy donor A, HB- Healthy donor B; EVs – extracellular vesicles; 1.5 – 1.5 x 10⁹ part/mL; 3.0 – 3.0 x 10⁹ part/mL; 4.5 – 4.5 x 10⁹ part/mL.

Finally, we tested the effect of the selected miRNA on the survival of CD34⁺- derived ECs to ischemic conditions.

In the results with lipofectamine, there is a significant increase in survival with 10nM (p value < 0.01) and 25nM of miRNA (p value < 0.05).

Firstly, we showed that EVs isolated from the urine did not enhance the survival of CD34⁺derived ECs, regardless of the concentration used. Secondly, using EVs isolated from two donors, we showed that miRNA-modulated EVs led to a statistically significant increase in the survival of CD34⁺-derived ECs.



Figure 11 – **Results of cell survival assays in CD34**⁺-**ECs.** A) Cell survival with miRNA transfected and non-transfected urine EVs from healthy donor A. B) Cell survival with miRNA transfected and non-transfected urine EVs from healthy donor B C) Cell survival upon transfection of the miRNA with Lipofectamine RNAiMax. Three replicates per condition were used in the assays using EVs (n=3), and six replicates in the assay with Lipofectamine (n=6). Bars represent mean \pm SD. The statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test correction. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001; **** p<0.001. Δ - comparison with control; CTL - control; VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor; LP- lipofectamine, HA – Healthy donor A, HB- Healthy donor B; EVs – extracellular vesicles; 1.5 – 1.5 x 10⁹ part/mL; 3.0 – 3.0 x 10⁹ part/mL; 4.5 – 4.5 x 10⁹ part/mL.

Based on the above results we conclude that the miRNA we selected, at least for the concentrations and time points tested herein, did not enhance the proliferation nor migration of CD34⁺-derived ECs. However, the same miRNA was capable of enhancing the survival of CD34⁺-derived ECs exposed to ischemic conditions suggesting that the administration of miRNA-modulated EVs after an ischemic event can potentially ameliorate the deleterious effect and contribute to a better outcome.

5. Discussion

5.1 Characterization of urine EVs

Nowadays, EVs are the object of study of many researchers. Their applications are numerous and span a wide variety of fields, from cancer¹⁰³ to cardiovascular diseases¹⁰⁴ and even neurodegenerative diseases¹⁰⁵. They are important mediators of cell communication making them great candidates to serve as biomarker and/or therapeutic agents, hence is unsurprising their popularity among the research community.

With the growing interest in these nano-carriers, comes the necessity to obtain highly purified samples and specific populations of EVs, not only to better understand the mechanism behind their biogenesis, release and cargo, but also to use them in a clinical setting.

EVs are present in many biological fluids and cell culture media, and since each fluid has different specificities, the isolation method should be carefully chosen. In our laboratory, a protocol for urine EVs isolation was recently optimized based on the one Puhka *et al.* describes, which considers the presence of the THP protein, a urine-specific protein, that can entrap EVs and reduce the EV yield. By dilution of the urine sample with T-EDTA, THP aggregates are avoided and EVs are not entrapped and lost in the centrifugation steps, in particular the ones performed at low speed.

In the present work, we used urine-derived EVs from healthy donors and patients who suffered an acute myocardial infarction (AMI). All these EVs were characterized by NTA, zeta potential and microBCA, and some EVs from AMI patients were also subject to flow cytometry in order to analyze the expression of typical EV surface markers. Our results showed that EVs isolated from healthy donors and AMI patients had a similar size distribution and zeta potential. In fact, from the parameters herein analyzed, the concentration of total protein was the one that showed the biggest difference between the two groups. EVs from AMI patients usually had a higher amount of protein, especially in the case of EVs isolated from AMI patients at day 1 (<6h after hospitalization). This finding suggests that either the medical procedures performed immediately after hospitalization and/or the medication used could potentially interfere with the amount of protein in that particular sample. Another potential factor that could interfere with the protein quantification assay directly is the iodine solution used has contrasting agent, which is slowly expelled from the body through urine. Future studies should clarify is this

solution interferes with the assay directly or indirectly. Based on our analysis of number of particles/ug protein, we were able to conclude that EVs isolated from urine from healthy donors were purer than the ones isolated from AMI patients. NTA measurements of sample concentration were similar between healthy and AMI samples and the size distribution was in the 50-200 nm range, which is typical for EVs. Regarding the zeta potential, we did not find a significant difference between EVs isolated from both groups (the values ranged from -15 and -35mV, with a mean value of -23.46mV for EVs isolated from healthy donors and -23mV from EVs isolated from AMI patients). These results lend support to the idea that the sample we are working with was enriched with typical EVs displaying a negative surface charge characteristic of a lipidic membrane.

To ascertain the expression of common EV surface markers, CD9 and CD63, flow cytometry was performed in urine EVs from an AMI patient. Our results showed a relatively low level of expression of both markers with a slight increase over time, CD9 with D1=10%, D2=6.6% and D3=11.5% and CD63 with D1=11.6%, D2=27.3% and D3=48.5%. Previous work from our laboratory and other groups showed that the expression of these surface markers was donor dependent and could be present in an inconsistent manner⁴². For example, we have previously shown that in EVs isolated from urine EVs from healthy donors, CD9 expression oscillated between 28.8% and 98.3%, and the expression of CD63 from 19.1% to 97.7% (data not shown). However, in this particular case, we were surprised by the increase in the expression of these markers during time and that led us to hypothesize that protein and/or other contaminants could be interfering with the assay. To test this, we purified the EVs from day three with SEC and compared the expression of both markers before and after SEC. Our results showed a >20% increase in the expression of both markers suggesting that some contaminant was interfering with the assay either by competing for the binding sites within the beads used for flow cytometry or inhibiting the binding of EVs. Based on this observation we will, in the future, only used EVs that had been purified using SEC. In fact, this analysis must be performed in the EV samples from day 1 and even day 2 after patient hospitalization and in that case, we expect an even bigger increase in the expression of these markers because the sample from day 3, according to the number of particles/ug (5.47 x 10^9 part/ug), was the most pure from the three (D1=6.62 x 10⁸ part/ug and D2=2.74 x 10⁹ part/ug). Unfortunately, due to the low amount of EVs obtained, we were not able to perform that analysis. We also repeated the NTA measurements in the purified sample and compared to the non-purified sample, but our results showed that we were only able to retain $\sim 20\%$ of EVs after SEC likely due to the aggregation of EVs with the contaminants that were removed by the SEC. The size distribution, however, was not significantly affected (before SEC it had a mode of 124 nm and after SEC, 122 nm). In the future it would be interesting to purify a sample from a healthy donor to compare with these results and see if there would be any parallel variations.

5.2 Bioactivity assays with urine EVs from AMI patients.

Many therapeutic approaches are based in pre-condition of stem cells. For example, it is known that exposure of cells to ischemic conditions before their transplantation into a damaged tissue enhances their survival¹⁰⁶. Moreover, hypoxic preconditioning of the cells producing EVs also resulted in significant improvements in functional assays¹⁰⁷. MSCs, after being in culture for a long time, lose some of their biological functions. However, if pre-conditioned in hypoxia, despite a decrease in their viability and proliferation, when reoxygenated, they will express many classical pro-survival genes ¹⁰⁷. To some extent, the percentage of O₂ at which the cells are exposed, differentially modulates the factors they secrete. For example, pre-conditioning human adipose-derived MSCs with 1% O2 promoted the release of VEGF and other proangiogenic factors, and when the conditioned medium from these cells was collected and added to cultured HUVECS, migration and angiogenesis were significantly improved¹⁰⁸. The use of conditioned medium like this, rich in paracrine factors, lead to the discovery of EVs as key mediators of the observed effects, paving the way to their use in regenerative and/or protective responses ²⁵.

EVs can also be found in a diversity of biological fluids and, in pathological conditions, the EV cargo is modified and thus portrays the state of the releasing cell⁴⁴. For example, in patients suffering from AMI, cardiac cells release high amounts of EVs from endothelial and cardiomyocyte origin, which are internalized by monocytes and induce the release of proinflammatory cytokines ¹⁰⁹. This led us to the hypothesis that EVs isolated from AMI patients could have enhanced bioactivity.

After an AMI, given the fact that the patient is already very weakened, it was essential to use a non-invasive method to collect autologous EVs. We therefore decided to use urine to obtain a large number of particles in a non-invasive manner. Moreover, the presence of cardiac specific miR-1 has been reported in urine of a human patient after AMI⁷⁹ and being

urine samples an easy and non-invasive fluid to obtain, it seemed like a promising candidate for isolating EVs that might be cardiac-derived. Urine EVs from 2 AMI patients were tested in previous work performed in our laboratory in an endothelial cell model with promising results (supplementary data)¹¹⁰ In order to increase the sample number and draw a conclusion regarding the potential of this urine-derived EVs, we repeated the bioactivity assays in ECs with samples of 3 more AMI patients.

Overall, our results were not concordant with the previous work. While with the other two AMI patients, an increase of migration and proliferation in HUVECS was observed, in our case no significant impact in migration or proliferation was detected. Noteworthy, the positive control for migration and proliferation assays - VEGF, a well-known endothelial mitogen- did not show any type of effect in none of the migration assays and in one of the proliferation assay (Figure 8), which could be an indicator that those cells might have some intrinsic phenotypic changes that preclude their use for these particular studies. Nonetheless, in one proliferation assay VEGF worked, the most astonishing was that one of the migration assays was performed in parallel with it, and therefore with the same cells (same passage and passed through the same initial culture conditions), but VEGF did not work in the migration assay. The only difference between these two assays, was that due to the different specifications of the assay settings, they were performed in separate 96-well plates. Cells might not respond to VEGF if cell media already has a high concentration of this factor, but since we changed the medium to EBM after incubation with EVs, it seems unlikely that the cells still had VEGF present, nevertheless, we have not found yet any other plausible explanation.

It should be emphasized that in our previous results obtained with EVs from AMI patients, the observed effects were also donor dependent. This suggests that many other factors, besides the day of hospitalization, should be taken into account when collecting the urine samples, such as time after the onset of symptoms, extent of myocardial infarct, and quite importantly, the impact that the medication received in the hospital can have in the EVs. Some medication to lower blood pressure (B-blockers or calcium channels inhibitors), for example, are capable of diminishing the levels of endothelial, monocyte and platelet derived EVs in circulation¹⁰⁴. Acute kidney injury can occur due to microvascular injury upon myocardial infarction¹¹¹, in which case, EVs isolated from urine after an AMI can derive not only from the injured cardiac tissue, something that remains to be shown, but also from the kidney and their cargo and bioactivity can be completely different.

Considering all these factors and the difficulty to control some of them in a scenario of an AMI incident we believe that it is highly unlikely that using urine EVs from AMI patients can become a standardized method for an autologous, point-of-care therapy.

5.3 Bioactivity assays using miRNA-modulated EVs

The crosstalk between ECs and CMs is important in cardiac development and later in survival and contraction of CMs. CMs will also influence ECs survival and assembly by production of VEGF and other angiogenic factors. This synergistic interaction is necessary to maintain the hearts homeostasis. The adult human heart has a very low regenerative capacity, usually responding to injury by repair of damaged area with fibrotic tissue, which will not have the same characteristics and lead to future complications⁸. This happens because adult mammalian CMs, unlike neonatal CMs, which can regenerate after myocardial injury due to proliferation of preexisting CMs¹¹², do not have a proliferative phenotype and only recently were discovered to have a very low self-renewal capacity¹¹³. This difference in phenotype occurs when the CMs, after birth, are exposed to high concentrations of O2, causing cell cycle arrest due to DNA damage caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS)¹¹⁴. To determine if this cell cycle arrest was irreversible, adult mice were subjected to gradual hypoxic conditions, and surprisingly, a reactivation of CMs was observed, and in mice after 1 week post-MI, this hypoxic environment led to the regeneration of new contractile tissue instead of fibrotic repair¹¹⁴. Despite this important discovery, and that regenerative research seems focused in conferring a more regenerative phenotype to preexisting CMs, it is necessary to guarantee that the regenerated area is highly, and properly, vascularized, to help in the development and maintenance of the new CMs¹¹⁵. This neovascularization is promoted by the ECs that surround the cardiac tissue, and if that does not occur, cardiac regeneration will be impared¹¹⁶.

Therefore, to promote this mechanism after and AMI, EC survival and neoangiogenesis is crucial. MicroRNAs have been long described as important in endothelial cell development and growth¹¹⁷, making them a strong potential candidate for inducing ECs proliferation and survival.

In order to access the best miRNA for endothelial survival, our laboratory performed a prosurvival screening in CD34⁺-derived ECs. Fifteen pro-survival miRNAs were identified, eight of which had not been described in literature. We chose one of these undescribed miRNAs, miR-B, to study in the present work. Therefore, in the second part of this thesis, we focused our attention in the potential of miR-B to induce cell proliferation and migration and to further study its mechanism of survival in CD34+-derived ECs. To deliver the miRNA to the cells, we transfected them with a commercial lipidic formulation (lipofectamine RNAiMax) and compared that system with miRNA-modulated EVs isolated from urine of healthy donors.

Firstly, in the assay with lipofectamine, in which we transfected 3 different concentrations of miRNA (10, 25 and 50 nM), our results showed that regardless of the concentration tested, no significant effect in proliferation was observed, and only a very slight increase in migration was observed with 25 nM miR-B, 18h after scratch was performed, when compared with the lipofectamine control. In the survival assay, a significant increase in survival of cells using 10 and 25 nM of miR-B was observed in comparison with the control lipofectamine.

Secondly, none of the three different concentrations of urine EVs from healthy donors transfected with miRNA had any impact in proliferation or migration of CD34+-ECs. In survival, however, we observed a statistically significant increase in the survival in all the conditions tested when compared with normal control with the exception of the non-transfected EVs, which showed no effect. Transfected EVs exhibited a significant increase in survival when compared with normal control, and with non-transfected EVs, meaning the survival capacity is due to the miR-B's action and not the EVs.

Likewise, when PCR was performed in these transfected EVs versus non-transfect (data not shown) a fold change of more than 2^{10} was observed, meaning the miR-B was indeed transfected into the EVs. We can also conclude that the effect of the miR-B is independent of the EV donor, since the results between donors are similar.

Based on these results, we concluded that miRNA-modulated EVs have the potential to enhance the survival of ECs in ischemic conditions. Importantly, by using EV rather than commercial lipidic formations, we believe that we are one step closer to develop a therapeutic product that can be used in the clinic.

6. Conclusions and Future Perspectives:

The use of EVs as biomarkers and/or therapeutic agents is steadily increasing based on their key role in many physio- and pathological conditions and their ubiquitous presence in almost all biological fluids. Despite this, the mechanisms governing their biogenesis, uptake and intracellular trafficking, in particular in different cell types and in vivo, remains poorly understood. And warrants further research.

In our work, we isolated and characterized urine EVs from AMI patients and healthy donors by NTA, zeta potential, microBCA, flow cytometry and SEC. Subsequently, we tested the bioactivity of urine EVs isolated from AMI patients in the migration and proliferation of ECs. However, no significant effect was observed in any of the assays.

Based on these findings, we modulated naïve EVs with a miRNA, previously identified in a pro-survival screening performed in our laboratory, and analyze its impact in migration, proliferation and survival of ECs. To that end, we used two methods (lipofectamine versus miRNA-modulated EVs) to deliver the selected miRNA into EC and analyze its bioactivity. With both methods, we did not observe any differences between control and miRNA conditions in proliferation and migration. However, EC survival was enhanced upon transfection of the miRNA with EVs but not with lipofectamine.

Future work should focus on the uptake and intracellular trafficking of modulated EVs as well as in their tropism for different cellular models (for example, cardiac fibroblasts, CM or cardiac ECs). Additionally, we should extend the analysis to other endothelial assays such as the tube formation assay as well as to other cell types, in particular the cell types existing in the heart. Moreover, we should gain insight into the mechanism governing the survival using miRNA-modulated EVs, in particular the synergistic effect of the miRNA with the endogenous cargo of the EV. Lastly, a larger number of donors, both healthy as well as AMI patients, should be included in the study.

7. References

- 1. World Health Organization (2019), Cardiovascular Disease. https://www.who.int/cardiovascular_diseases/en/
- Joseph P, Leong D, Mckee M, et al. Reducing the Global Burden of Cardiovascular Disease, Part 1. 2017:677-694. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.308903
- Leong DP, Joseph PG, McKee M, et al. Reducing the global burden of cardiovascular disease, part 2: Prevention and treatment of cardiovascular disease. *Circ Res.* 2017;121(6):695-710. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311849
- 4. Moore A, Goerne H, Rajiah P, Tanabe Y, Saboo S, Abbara S. Acute Myocardial Infarct. *Radiol Clin North Am.* 2019;57(1):45-55. doi:10.1016/j.rcl.2018.08.006
- Saleh M, Ambrose JA. Understanding myocardial infarction. *F1000Research*. 2018;7(0):1378. doi:10.12688/f1000research.15096.1
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, et al. Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). *Russ J Cardiol.* 2019;24(3):107-138. doi:10.15829/1560-4071-2019-3-107-138
- Moore A, Goerne H, Rajiah P, Tanabe Y, Saboo S, Abbara S. Acute Myocardial Infarct. *Radiol Clin North Am*. 2019;57(1):45-55. doi:10.1016/j.rcl.2018.08.006
- Cahill TJ, Choudhury RP, Riley PR. Heart regeneration and repair after myocardial infarction: Translational opportunities for novel therapeutics. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2017;16(10):699-717. doi:10.1038/nrd.2017.106
- 9. Travers JG, Kamal FA, Robbins J, Yutzey KE, Blaxall BC. Cardiac Fibrosis: The Fibroblast Awakens. *Circ Res.* 2016;118(6):1021-1040. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306565
- Sousa-Uva M, Neumann F-J, Ahlsson A, et al. 2018 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization. *Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg.* 2019;55(1):4-90. doi:10.1093/ejcts/ezy289
- Becker LC. Myocardial reperfusion injury. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 1997;4(1):43-45. doi:10.1023/A:1017529929730
- 12. Murphy E, Steenbergen C. Mechanisms Underlying Acute Protection From Cardiac

Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. *Physiol Rev.* 2008;88(2):581-609. doi:10.1152/physrev.00024.2007

- Narmoneva DA, Vukmirovic R, Davis ME, Kamm RD, Lee RT. Endothelial Cells Promote Cardiac Myocyte Survival and Spatial Reorganization. *Circulation*. 2004;110(8):962-968. doi:10.1161/01.cir.0000140667.37070.07
- Hsieh PCH, Davis ME, Lisowski LK, Lee RT. ENDOTHELIAL-CARDIOMYOCYTE INTERACTIONS IN CARDIAC DEVELOPMENT AND REPAIR. Annu Rev Physiol. 2006;68(1):51-66. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.68. 040104.124629
- Condorelli G, Borello U, De Angelis L, et al. Cardiomyocytes induce endothelial cells to trans-differentiate into cardiac muscle: implications for myocardium regeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98(19):10733-10738. doi:10.1073/pnas.191217898
- Broughton KM, Wang BJ, Firouzi F, et al. Mechanisms of cardiac repair and regeneration. *Circ Res.* 2018;122(8):1151-1163. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117. 312586
- Rohrbach S, Troidl C, Hamm C, Schulz R. Ischemia and reperfusion related myocardial inflammation: A network of cells and mediators targeting the cardiomyocyte. *IUBMB Life*. 2015;67(2):110-119. doi:10.1002/iub.1352
- Segers VFM, Brutsaert DL, De Keulenaer GW. Cardiac Remodeling: Endothelial Cells Have More to Say Than Just NO. *Front Physiol.* 2018;9(APR). doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.00382
- Madigan M, Atoui R. Therapeutic Use of Stem Cells for Myocardial Infarction. Bioengineering. 2018;5(2):28. doi:10.3390/bioengineering5020028
- Cambria E, Pasqualini FS, Wolint P, et al. Translational cardiac stem cell therapy: advancing from first-generation to next-generation cell types. *npj Regen Med*. 2017;2(1):1-9. doi:10.1038/s41536-017-0024-1
- Gnecchi M, He H, Noiseux N, et al. Evidence supporting paracrine hypothesis for Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cell-mediated cardiac protection and functional improvement. *FASEB J.* 2006;20(6):661-669. doi:10.1096/fj.05-5211com

- Ghittoni R, Patrussi L, Pirozzi K, et al. Simvastatin inhibits T-cell activation by selectively impairing the function of Ras superfamily GTPases. *FASEB J*. 2005;19(6):605-607. doi:10.1096/fj.04-2702fje
- Yeo RWY, Lai RC, Zhang B, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell: An efficient mass producer of exosomes for drug delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2013;65(3):336-341. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2012.07.001
- 24. Van den Boorn JG, Daßler J, Coch C, Schlee M, Hartmann G. Exosomes as nucleic acid nanocarriers. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2013;65(3):331-335. doi:10.1016/j.addr. 2012.06.011
- Lai RC, Arslan F, Lee MM, et al. Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Stem Cell Res.* 2010;4(3):214-222. doi:10.1016/j.scr. 2009.12.003
- Bruno S, Grange C, Deregibus MC, et al. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Microvesicles Protect Against Acute Tubular Injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(5):1053-1067. doi:10.1681/asn.2008070798
- Biancone L, Bruno S, Deregibus MC, Tetta C, Camussi G. Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2012;27(8):3037-3042. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs168
- Pan B-T, Johnstone RM. Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: Selective externalization of the receptor. *Cell*. 1983;33(3):967-978. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(83)90040-5
- Harding C, Heuser J, Stahl P. Receptor-mediated endocytosis of transferrin and recycling of the transferrin receptor in rat reticulocytes. *J Cell Biol*. 1983;97(2):329-339. doi:10.1083/jcb.97.2.329
- Barile L, Moccetti T, Marbán E, Vassalli G. Roles of exosomes in cardioprotection. *Eur Heart J.* 2017;38(18):1372-1379. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw304
- 31. Hristov M, Erl W, Linder S, et al. Apoptotic bodies from endothelial cells enhance the number and initiate the differentiation of human endothelial progenitor cells in vitro Apoptotic bodies from endothelial cells enhance the number and initiate the differentiation of human endothelial pro. 2011;104(9):2761-2766.

doi:10.1182/blood-2003-10-3614

- El Andaloussi S, Mäger I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJA. Extracellular vesicles: Biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2013;12(5):347-357. doi:10.1038/nrd3978
- Bebelman MP, Smit MJ, Pegtel DM, Baglio SR. Biogenesis and function of extracellular vesicles in cancer. *Pharmacol Ther*. 2018;188:1-11. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.02.013
- 34. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: Exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. *J Cell Biol*. 2013;200(4):373-383. doi:10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Taylor DD, Shah S. Methods of isolating extracellular vesicles impact down-stream analyses of their cargoes. *Methods*. 2015;87(March):3-10. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth. 2015.02.019
- Konoshenko MY, Lekchnov EA, Vlassov A V., Laktionov PP. Isolation of Extracellular Vesicles: General Methodologies and Latest Trends. *Biomed Res Int*. 2018;2018:1-27. doi:10.1155/2018/8545347
- 37. Momen-Heravi F, Balaj L, Alian S, et al. Current methods for the isolation of extracellular vesicles. *Biol Chem.* 2013;394(10):1253-1262. doi:10.1515/hsz-2013-0141
- Coumans FAW, Brisson AR, Buzas EI, et al. Methodological guidelines to study extracellular vesicles. *Circ Res.* 2017;120(10):1632-1648. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309417
- 39. Coumans FAW, Brisson AR, Buzas EI, et al. Methodological Guidelines to Study Extracellular Vesicles. *Circ Res.* 2017;120(10):1632-1648. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309417
- Szatanek R, Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Zimoch J, Lekka M, Siedlar M, Baran J. The methods of choice for extracellular vesicles (EVs) characterization. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(6). doi:10.3390/ijms18061153
- 41. Nolan JP. Flow cytometry of extracellular vesicles: Potential, pitfalls, and prospects.
 Curr Protoc Cytom. 2015;2015(July):13.14.1-13.14.16. doi:10.1002/04711429
 56.cy1314s73

- Yoshioka Y, Konishi Y, Kosaka N, Katsuda T, Kato T, Ochiya T. Comparative marker analysis of extracellular vesicles in different human cancer types. *J Extracell Vesicles*. 2013;2(1):1-9. doi:10.3402/jev.v2i0.20424
- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2016;113(8):E968-E977. doi:10.1073/pnas.1521230113
- 44. Sluijter JPG, Davidson SM, Boulanger CM, et al. Extracellular vesicles in diagnostics and therapy of the ischaemic heart: Position Paper from the Working Group on Cellular Biology of the Heart of the European Society of Cardiology. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2018;114(1):19-34. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvx211
- 45. Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou PE, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2017;14(5):259-272. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2017.7
- Pei F, Zhu X, Zeng C, Li C, Duan DD. Circulating microRNAs as novel and sensitive biomarkers of acute myocardial Infarction. *Clin Biochem*. 2012;45(0):727-732. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2012.04.013
- Deddens JC, Colijn JM, Oerlemans MIFJ, et al. Circulating MicroRNAs as novel biomarkers for the early diagnosis of acute coronary syndrome. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res.* 2013;6(6):884-898. doi:10.1007/s12265-013-9493-9
- Chistiakov DA, Orekhov AN, Bobryshevy Y V. Cardiac extracellular vesicles in normal and infarcted heart. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2016;17(1):1-18. doi:10.3390/ijms17010063
- 49. Lai RC, Arslan F, Tan SS, et al. Derivation and characterization of human fetal MSCs: An alternative cell source for large-scale production of cardioprotective microparticles. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2010;48(6):1215-1224. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.12.021
- 50. Hu GW, Li Q, Niu X, et al. Exosomes secreted by human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells attenuate limb ischemia by promoting angiogenesis in mice. *Stem Cell Res Ther*. 2015;6(1):1-15. doi:10.1186/scrt546
- 51. Zhao Y, Sun X, Cao W, et al. Exosomes Derived from Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Relieve Acute Myocardial Ischemic Injury. *Stem Cells Int.*

2015;2015:1-12. doi:10.1155/2015/761643

- 52. Shabbir A, Cox A, Rodriguez-Menocal L, Salgado M, Badiavas E Van. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Exosomes Induce Proliferation and Migration of Normal and Chronic Wound Fibroblasts, and Enhance Angiogenesis In Vitro. *Stem Cells Dev.* 2015;24(14):1635-1647. doi:10.1089/scd.2014.0316
- Chen L, Wang Y, Pan Y, et al. Cardiac progenitor-derived exosomes protect ischemic myocardium from acute ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2013;431(3):566-571. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.01.015
- 54. Kervadec A, Bellamy V, El Harane N, et al. Cardiovascular progenitor-derived extracellular vesicles recapitulate the beneficial effects of their parent cells in the treatment of chronic heart failure. *J Hear Lung Transplant*. 2016;35(6):795-807. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2016.01.013
- Sahoo S, Ph D, Klychko E, et al. Exosomes from Human CD34+ Stem Cells Mediate their Pro- angiogenic Paracrine Activity. *Circ Res.* 2012;109(7):724-728. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.253286.Exosomes
- 56. Smith RR, Barile L, Cho HC, et al. Regenerative Potential of Cardiosphere-Derived Cells Expanded From Percutaneous Endomyocardial Biopsy Specimens. *Circulation*. 2007;115(7):896-908. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.655209
- 57. Cheng K, Ibrahim A, Hensley MT, et al. Relative Roles of CD90 and c-Kit to the Regenerative Efficacy of Cardiosphere-Derived Cells in Humans and in a Mouse Model of Myocardial Infarction. J Am Heart Assoc. 2014;3(5):1-10. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.001260
- Malliaras K, Li T-S, Luthringer D, et al. Safety and Efficacy of Allogeneic Cell Therapy in Infarcted Rats Transplanted With Mismatched Cardiosphere-Derived Cells. *Circulation*. 2012;125(1):100-112. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111. 042598
- Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, et al. Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): A prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9819):895-904. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60195-0

- Johnston P V., Sasano T, Mills K, et al. Engraftment, Differentiation, and Functional Benefits of Autologous Cardiosphere-Derived Cells in Porcine Ischemic Cardiomyopathy. *Circulation*. 2009;120(12):1075-1083. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.816058
- Tseliou E, Pollan S, Malliaras K, et al. Allogeneic Cardiospheres Safely Boost Cardiac Function and Attenuate Adverse Remodeling After Myocardial Infarction in Immunologically Mismatched Rat Strains. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(10):1108-1119. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.10.052
- Lapchak PA, Boitano PD, de Couto G, Marbán E. Intravenous xenogeneic human cardiosphere-derived cell extracellular vesicles (exosomes) improves behavioral function in small-clot embolized rabbits. *Exp Neurol.* 2018;307(June):109-117. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2018.06.007
- Caby M-P, Lankar D, Vincendeau-Scherrer C, Raposo G, Bonnerot C. Exosomallike vesicles are present in human blood plasma. *Int Immunol.* 2005;17(7):879-887. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh267
- 64. Kalra H, Adda CG, Liem M, et al. Comparative proteomics evaluation of plasma exosome isolation techniques and assessment of the stability of exosomes in normal human blood plasma. *Proteomics*. 2013;13(22):3354-3364. doi:10.1002/pmic.2013 00282
- 65. Little K, Smalley D, Harthun N, Ley K. The Plasma Microparticle Proteome. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* 2010;36(08):845-856. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1267038
- 66. Michael A, Bajracharya S, Yuen P, et al. Exosomes from human saliva as a source of microRNA biomarkers. *Oral Dis.* 2010;16(1):34-38. doi:10.1111/j.1601-0825.2009.01604.x
- Lässer C, Seyed Alikhani V, Ekström K, et al. Human saliva, plasma and breast milk exosomes contain RNA: uptake by macrophages. *J Transl Med.* 2011;9(1):9. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-9-9
- Manek R, Moghieb A, Yang Z, et al. Protein Biomarkers and Neuroproteomics Characterization of Microvesicles/Exosomes from Human Cerebrospinal Fluid Following Traumatic Brain Injury. *Mol Neurobiol.* 2018;55(7):6112-6128. doi:10.1007/s12035-017-0821-y

- Yagi Y, Ohkubo T, Kawaji H, et al. Next-generation sequencing-based small RNA profiling of cerebrospinal fluid exosomes. *Neurosci Lett.* 2017;636:48-57. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2016.10.042
- Beltrami C, Besnier M, Shantikumar S, et al. Human Pericardial Fluid Contains Exosomes Enriched with Cardiovascular-Expressed MicroRNAs and Promotes Therapeutic Angiogenesis. *Mol Ther.* 2017;25(3):679-693. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe. 2016.12.022
- Pisitkun T, Shen R-F, Knepper MA. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2004;101(36):13368-13373. doi:10.1073/pnas.0403453101
- Silvers CR, Miyamoto H, Messing EM, Netto GJ, Lee Y-F. Characterization of urinary extracellular vesicle proteins in muscle-invasive bladder cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(53):91199-91208. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.20043
- 73. Emanueli C, Shearn AIU, Laftah A, et al. Coronary artery-bypass-graft surgery increases the plasma concentration of exosomes carrying a cargo of cardiac microRNAs: An example of exosome trafficking out of the human heart with potential for cardiac biomarker discovery. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(4). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154274
- 74. Zhao X, Jia Y, Chen H, Yao H, Guo W. Plasma-derived exosomal miR-183 associates with protein kinase activity and may serve as a novel predictive biomarker of myocardial ischemic injury. *Exp Ther Med.* May 2019:179-187. doi:10.3892/etm.2019.7555
- 75. Vicencio JM, Yellon DM, Sivaraman V, et al. Plasma Exosomes Protect the Myocardium From Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65(15):1525-1536. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.02.026
- 76. De Palma G, Sallustio F, Schena F. Clinical Application of Human Urinary Extracellular Vesicles in Kidney and Urologic Diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(7):1043. doi:10.3390/ijms17071043
- Sonoda H, Lee BR, Park K-H, et al. miRNA profiling of urinary exosomes to assess the progression of acute kidney injury. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):4692. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-40747-8

- Bruschi M, Ravera S, Santucci L, et al. The human urinary exosome as a potential metabolic effector cargo. *Expert Rev Proteomics*. 2015;12(4):425-432. doi:10.1586/14789450.2015.1055324
- Cheng Y, Wang X, Yang J, et al. A translational study of urine miRNAs in acute myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2012;53(5):668-676. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2012.08.010
- 80. Gidlöf O, Andersson P, van der Pals J, Götberg M, Erlinge D. Cardiospecific microRNA Plasma Levels Correlate with Troponin and Cardiac Function in Patients with ST Elevation Myocardial Infarction, Are Selectively Dependent on Renal Elimination, and Can Be Detected in Urine Samples. *Cardiology*. 2011;118(4):217-226. doi:10.1159/000328869
- Reinhart HH, Sobel JD. The role of Tamm-Horsfall protein in the pathogenesis of urinary tract infection. *Int Urogynecol J.* 1992;3(3):191-196. doi:10.1007/BF004 54999
- Wachalska M, Koppers-Lalic D, van Eijndhoven M, et al. Protein Complexes in Urine Interfere with Extracellular Vesicle Biomarker Studies. J Circ Biomarkers. 2016;5:4. doi:10.5772/62579
- Fernández-Llama P, Khositseth S, Gonzales PA, Star RA, Pisitkun T, Knepper MA. Tamm-Horsfall protein and urinary exosome isolation. *Kidney Int.* 2010;77(8):736-742. doi:10.1038/ki.2009.550
- Musante L, Saraswat M, Duriez E, et al. Biochemical and Physical Characterisation of Urinary Nanovesicles following CHAPS Treatment. Addison CL, ed. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(7):e37279. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037279
- Gerlach JQ, Krüger A, Gallogly S, et al. Surface Glycosylation Profiles of Urine Extracellular Vesicles. Sim RB, ed. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(9):e74801. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074801
- 86. Kosanović M, Janković M. Isolation of urinary extracellular vesicles from Tamm-Horsfall protein–depleted urine and their application in the development of a lectinexosome-binding assay. *Biotechniques*. 2014;57(3):143-149. doi:10.2144/000114 208

- Puhka M, Nordberg M-E, Valkonen S, et al. KeepEX, a simple dilution protocol for improving extracellular vesicle yields from urine. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 2017;98:30-39. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2016.10.021
- B. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell*. 2004;116:281-297.
 http://www.wormbase.org/db/misc/paper?name=WBPaper00006373.
- 89. Boon RA, Vickers KC. Intercellular Transport of MicroRNAs. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2013;33(2):186-192. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300139
- 90. Pfeifer P, Werner N, Jansen F. Role and Function of MicroRNAs in Extracellular Vesicles in Cardiovascular Biology. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015;2015:1-11. doi:10.1155/2015/161393
- 91. Yu B, Gong M, Wang Y, et al. Cardiomyocyte Protection by GATA-4 Gene Engineered Mesenchymal Stem Cells Is Partially Mediated by Translocation of miR-221 in Microvesicles. Qin G, ed. PLoS One. 2013;8(8):e73304. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073304
- 92. Feng Y, Huang W, Wani M, Yu X, Ashraf M. Ischemic Preconditioning Potentiates the Protective Effect of Stem Cells through Secretion of Exosomes by Targeting Mecp2 via miR-22. Qin G, ed. *PLoS One.* 2014;9(2):e88685. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0088685
- 93. El-Andaloussi S, Lee Y, Lakhal-Littleton S, et al. Exosome-mediated delivery of siRNA in vitro and in vivo. *Nat Protoc.* 2012;7(12):2112-2126. doi:10.1038/nprot.2012.131
- 94. Tang K, Zhang Y, Zhang H, et al. Delivery of chemotherapeutic drugs in tumour cell-derived microparticles. *Nat Commun.* 2012;3(1):1282. doi:10.1038/ncomms2282
- 95. Armstrong JPK, Stevens MM. Strategic design of extracellular vesicle drug delivery systems. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2018;130:12-16. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2018.06.017
- 96. Lamichhane TN, Raiker RS, Jay SM. Exogenous DNA Loading into Extracellular Vesicles via Electroporation is Size-Dependent and Enables Limited Gene Delivery. *Mol Pharm.* 2015;12(10):3650-3657. doi:10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.5b00364

- 97. Potter H. Transfection by Electroporation. In: *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2003. doi:10.1002/0471142727.mb0903s62
- Cardarelli F, Digiacomo L, Marchini C, et al. The intracellular trafficking mechanism of Lipofectamine-based transfection reagents and its implication for gene delivery. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):25879. doi:10.1038/srep25879
- 99. Castaño C, Kalko S, Novials A, Párrizas M. Obesity-associated exosomal miRNAs modulate glucose and lipid metabolism in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2018;115(48):12158-12163. doi:10.1073/pnas.1808855115
- 100. Zeng Z, Li Y, Pan Y, et al. Cancer-derived exosomal miR-25-3p promotes premetastatic niche formation by inducing vascular permeability and angiogenesis. *Nat Commun.* 2018;9(1):5395. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-07810-w
- 101. Théry C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and Characterization of Exosomes from Cell Culture Supernatants and Biological Fluids. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol.* 2006;30(1):3.22.1-3.22.29. doi:10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30
- Improved Survival, Vascular Differentiation and Wound Healing Potential of Stem Cells Co-Cultured with Endothelial Cells.
- 103. Xu R, Rai A, Chen M, Suwakulsiri W, Greening DW, Simpson RJ. Extracellular vesicles in cancer — implications for future improvements in cancer care. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* 2018;15(10):617-638. doi:10.1038/s41571-018-0036-9
- 104. Jansen F, Nickenig G, Werner N. Extracellular Vesicles in Cardiovascular Disease. Circ Res. 2017;120(10):1649-1657. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310752
- 105. Croese T, Furlan R. Extracellular vesicles in neurodegenerative diseases. Mol Aspects Med. 2018;60:52-61. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2017.11.006
- 106. Sart S, Ma T, Li Y. Preconditioning Stem Cells for In Vivo Delivery. *Biores Open Access*. 2014;3(4):137-149. doi:10.1089/biores.2014.0012
- Hu C, Li L. Preconditioning influences mesenchymal stem cell properties in vitro and in vivo. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22(3):1428-1442. doi:10.1111/jcmm.13492
- 108. Liu L, Gao J, Yuan Y, Chang Q, Liao Y, Lu F. Hypoxia preconditioned human

adipose derived mesenchymal stem cells enhance angiogenic potential via secretion of increased VEGF and bFGF. *Cell Biol Int.* 2013;37(6):551-560. doi:10.1002/cbin.10097

- Loyer X, Zlatanova I, Devue C, et al. Intra-Cardiac Release of Extracellular Vesicles Shapes Inflammation Following Myocardial Infarction. *Circ Res.* 2018;123(1):100-106. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311326
- 110. Jesus C. Urine Extracellular Vesicles: Waste or a Powerful Tool? 2018.
- 111. Reinstadler SJ, Kronbichler A, Reindl M, et al. Acute kidney injury is associated with microvascular myocardial damage following myocardial infarction. *Kidney Int*. 2017;92(3):743-750. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.016
- 112. Lam NT, Sadek HA. Neonatal Heart Regeneration. *Circulation*. 2018;138(4):412-423. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.033648
- Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL, et al. Mammalian heart renewal by preexisting cardiomyocytes. *Nature*. 2013;493(7432):433-436. doi:10.1038/nature 11682
- 114. Nakada Y, Canseco DC, Thet S, et al. Hypoxia induces heart regeneration in adult mice. *Nature*. 2017;541(7636):222-227. doi:10.1038/nature20173
- 115. Colliva A, Braga L, Giacca M, Zacchigna S. Endothelial cell–cardiomyocyte crosstalk in heart development and disease. *J Physiol.* 2019;0(June 2018):JP276758. doi:10.1113/JP276758
- 116. Marín-Juez R, Marass M, Gauvrit S, et al. Fast revascularization of the injured area is essential to support zebrafish heart regeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 2016;113(40):11237-11242. doi:10.1073/pnas.1605431113
- Santoro MM, Nicoli S. miRNAs in endothelial cell signaling: The endomiRNAs.
 Exp Cell Res. 2013;319(9):1324-1330. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.12.009

8. Supplementary data





Figure 12 – Bioactivity assays results using urine EVs from two AMI patients¹⁰⁹. **A**) and **B**) Results of cell proliferation assay of the AMI patient 1 and 2, respectively. **C**) and **D**) Results of cell survival assay of the AMI patient 1 and 2, respectively. **E**) and **F**) Results of cell migration assays of the AMI patient 1 and 2, respectively. **E**) and **F**) Results of cell migration assays of the AMI patient 1 and 2, respectively. **E**) and **F**) Results of cell migration assays of the AMI patient 1 and 2, respectively. Five replicates were performed per condition (n = 5). Bars represent mean \pm SD. Statistical analysis of cell proliferation and survival assays was performed using one-way ANOVA and in cell migration assay was used two-way ANOVA, both with Tukeywo-l assays was perform test correction. * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001; **** p<0.0001 CTL, control; AMI, acute myocardial infarction patient; D, day; EGM-2, endothelial growth medium 2; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor. Image and subtitle source: Jesus C. Urine Extracellular Vesicles: Waste or a Powerful Tool? 2018.